2010

# John A. Lyon v. Dr. Donald W. Bryan, M.D., : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION OF THE APPELLATE COURT**

Appellant John A. Lyon, plaintiff below, appeals the jury's verdict that the negligence of his doctor, appellee Donald Bryan, M.D., defendant below, in failing to diagnose a blood clot or clots during a postoperative examination was not the proximate cause of Mr. Lyon's injuries from a pulmonary embolism resulting from the clot or clots. Based upon the jury's verdict of no cause for lack of proximate causation, the trial court entered a judgment in favor of Dr. Bryan on August 31, 2009. On September 2, 2009, Mr. Lyon filed a motion for new trial based on the utter lack of evidence to support the jury's verdict. The trial court entered a ruling denying Mr. Lyon's motion for a new trial on November 30, 2009. Mr. Lyon filed a notice of appeal on December 28, 2009. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §§ 78A-3-102(3)(j), (4), and 78A-4-103(2)(j), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 3, 4 and 42(a), and a January 17, 2010 order of the Utah Supreme Court expressly transferring this matter to the Court of Appeals.

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Was the evidence insufficient to support the jury's verdict that Dr. Bryan's negligence in failing to diagnose a blood clot or clots during a postoperative examination was not the proximate cause of Mr. Lyon's injuries from a pulmonary embolism resulting from the blood clot or clots, when the only evidence presented at trial regarding causation, which was not contradicted or controverted, was that Dr. Bryan's failure to diagnose the blood clot proximately caused Mr. Lyon's pulmonary embolism?

The standard of review for challenges to a jury verdict is whether, “taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, the appellant demonstrates that the findings lack substantial evidentiary support.” Water & Energy Systems Tech., Inc. v. Keil, 2002 UT 32, ¶ 15, 48 P.3d 888 (citing In re Estate of Bartell, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (Utah 1989); Scudder v. Kennecott Copper Corp., 886 P.2d 48, 52 (Utah 1994); Heslop v. Bank of Utah, 839 P.2d 828, 839 (Utah 1992); Gustaveson v. Gregg, 655 P.2d 693, 695 (Utah 1982)). This issue was preserved in the trial court via trial of the issues in question and via Mr. Lyon’s Rule 59 Motion for New Trial.

2. Did the trial court err where, despite the court’s express finding that the sole and uncontroverted evidence offered at trial on the issue of causation was offered in support of Mr. Lyon, the court denied Mr. Lyon’s motion for a new trial after engaging in speculation as to possible reasons for the jury’s finding that Dr. Bryan’s negligence did not proximately cause injury to Mr. Lyon?

The standard of review for challenges to the denial of a motion for a new trial is abuse of discretion. King v. Fereday, 739 P.2d 618, 621 (Utah 1987) (citing Barson v. E.R. Squibb & Sons, Inc., 682 P.2d 832, 841 (Utah 1984); Pollesche v. Transamerican Ins. Co., 497 P.2d 236, 238 (Utah 1972)). This issue was preserved in the trial court via Mr. Lyon’s Rule 59 Motion for New Trial.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **I. Nature of the Case**

This is a medical malpractice action brought by Mr. Lyon against Dr. Bryan, an orthopedic surgeon, for injuries from a pulmonary embolism sustained as a result of Dr. Bryan's failure to diagnose Mr. Lyon with a blood clot or clots during a postoperative examination on November 28, 2005.

### **II. Course of the Proceedings and Disposition of the Matter Below**

The case was tried to a jury on August 3-5 and 7, 2009. (R. 000623-000626.) The jury returned its verdict on August 7, 2009. (R. 000334-000335) (the jury verdict is attached hereto at **Addendum Tab A**.) In that verdict, the jury determined that Dr. Bryan had been negligent in his treatment of Mr. Lyon but that Dr. Bryan's negligence was not the proximate cause of Mr. Lyon's injuries from a pulmonary embolism Mr. Lyon undisputedly suffered on December 1, 2005. (*See id.*) Based upon that verdict, the trial court entered a final judgment in favor of Dr. Bryan on August 31, 2009. (R. 000407-000408.)

Mr. Lyon filed a Rule 59 Motion for New Trial on September 2, 2009. (R. 000383-000406.) The motion challenged the jury verdict on the grounds that there was insufficient evidence to support the verdict of no proximate causation. (*See id.*) Specifically, the only evidence presented on the issue of proximate cause at trial was the testimony of plaintiff's medical expert, Anthony Serfustini, M.D. Dr. Serfustini testified that the pulmonary embolism suffered by Mr. Lyon was more likely than not the result of Dr. Lyon's failure to

diagnose and treat Mr. Lyon for a blood clot or clots during a postoperative examination on November 28, 2005. (*See id.*; R. 000625 at pp. 38-39, 60-61, 89) (the relevant excerpts of Dr. Serfustini's testimony are attached hereto at **Addendum Tab B**.) Dr. Lyon did not even attempt to controvert that evidence and failed to present evidence of any other possible cause of the pulmonary embolism.

Dr. Lyon filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion for new trial on or about September 11, 2009. (R. 000414-000479.) The memorandum set forth four separate arguments: (1) the jury was not required to believe Dr. Serfustini; (2) the basis for the finding of negligence was unclear; (3) causation had not been proven; and (4) defendant was barred from bringing a motion for new trial because no motion for directed verdict had been made at the close of evidence. (*See id.*)

The trial court heard Mr. Lyon's motion for new trial on November 12, 2009 and, on November 30, 2009, issued its Ruling Denying Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial. (R. 000627; R. 000537-000542.) The ruling found that Dr. Serfustini had provided uncontroverted testimony on the issue of causation, but nevertheless denied the motion on five grounds: (1) the evidence presented on causation "was very brief;" (2) "the evidence on causation was not presented in an emphatic, or even a very clear, manner;" (3) the jury was not bound by the testimony of Dr. Serfustini; and (4) there was a "plausible" possibility that the jury had determined Dr. Lyon had been negligent in some respect other than the failure to diagnose and treat the blood clot or clots. The trial court tacitly rejected Dr.

Bryan's assertion of a procedural bar to a new trial. (R. 000537-000542) (the trial court's ruling is attached hereto at **Addendum Tab C.**)

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED**

### **I. The Underlying Facts of the Case**

On November 15, 2005, Dr. Bryan performed rotator cuff surgery on Mr. Lyon's left shoulder. (R. 000624 at pp. 115-16.) On about November 24th or 25th, Mr. Lyon began experiencing swelling and pain in his left arm. (*Id.* at pp. 119, 204, 210.)

On November 28, 2005, Mr. Lyon made a postoperative visit to Dr. Bryan. (R. 000624 at p. 120.) Mr. Lyon testified that by that date, the swelling was severe and two "very distinctive lumps, very large" had manifested in the crease of his left elbow. (*Id.* at 120, 122-23, 187, 199.) Mr. Lyon testified that he complained to Dr. Bryan of the swelling, the lumps and the pain in his arm during the postoperative, and that he told Dr. Bryan he felt as if his arm was going to explode. (*Id.* at 120-23, 184, 187-88, 190, 211-12.) Dr. Bryan disputed Mr. Lyon's testimony that he presented with those symptoms and made those complaints during the postoperative visit. (R. 000625 at pp. 157-58.) It was undisputed, however, Dr. Bryan did not investigate the complaints Mr. Lyon testified he made during that visit. (*See* R. 000624 at 121, 123, 130, 191, 212, 220.)

On the evening of December 1, 2005, Mr. Lyon began coughing up blood and experiencing excruciating pain in his back, as well as shortness of breath. (R. 000624 at pp. 125, 202, 213.) Mr. Lyon described the pain as being the worst he had suffered in his entire

life. (*Id.* at p. 125.) The pain lasted throughout the night. (*Id.* at p. 126-27.) Despite his high pain tolerance and aversion to taking pain pills, Mr. Lyon took one around 9:00 p.m. and found himself repeatedly checking the clock throughout the night in hopes that enough time had passed that he could take another one. (*Id.* at pp. 126, 129, 135.)

The following morning, Mr. Lyon, still in pain, called Dr. Bryan's office to report the pain and set up a time to see the doctor. Dr. Bryan referred Mr. Lyon to Dr. J. David Schmitz, Mr. Lyon's family doctor. (R. 000624 at p. 127, 213-14.)

Mr. Lyon was examined by Dr. Schmitz later that morning. (R. 000624 at pp. 6-12; 127, 203.) Mr. Lyon testified that on the morning he presented to Dr. Schmitz his arm and the lumps in it were in a condition similar to that in which they were presented to Dr. Bryan on November 28. (*Id.* at pp. 124, 130, 195, 200.) Upon examining Mr. Lyon and learning that he had recently undergone surgery on his arm, Dr. Schmitz was concerned that he may have suffered a deep vein thrombosis ("DVT"), *i.e.*, a blood clot or clots, and a resultant pulmonary embolism. (*Id.* at pp. 6-11.) When asked at trial about the basis for his concern, Dr. Schmitz testified, "[A]nytime you have a thrombosis in an extremity, whether it's the arm or the leg, you're at risk for developing something call[ed] a pulmonary embolism which is when a part of the . . . clot breaks off and flows up into the lung and excludes a part of the pulmonary circulation in the lung. This can, pulmonary embolism causes over 150,000 deaths a year in the United States. So it's a very common complication of deep vein thrombosis." (*Id.*; *see also id.* at p. 17.)

Dr. Schmitz immediately sent Mr. Lyon for a sonogram to confirm the presence of DVT and pulmonary embolism. (R. 000624 at pp. 13, 128.) The sonogram revealed that Mr. Lyon indeed had suffered a pulmonary embolism. (*Id.* at p. 13, 14.) Dr. Bryan did not dispute that Mr. Lyon had suffered a pulmonary embolism.

Dr. Schmitz testified at length concerning DVTs, how DVTs can cause pulmonary emboli, how DVTs can result from surgery on the extremities, including the upper extremities, and the dangers of pulmonary emboli, which include possible death. (R. 000624 at pp. 12, 16, 18, 20-21.) There was no dispute regarding the seriousness of a pulmonary embolism.

Mr. Lyon was hospitalized for three days and endured several months of pain as a result of pulmonary embolism. (R. 000624 at p. 131, 133, 135-36, 207.) He expressed that during his ordeal he thought he was going to die and that he believes he would have died had he not consulted with Dr. Schmitz on December 2, 2005. (*Id.* at p. 142, 147-48, 186, 194.)

## **II. The Relevant Evidence Presented and Jury Instructions Given at Trial**

On June 21, 2007, Mr. Lyon brought his complaint in this matter. In it, he alleged medical malpractice against Dr. Bryan for failing to diagnose a blood clot or clots in his arm during the postoperative visit of November 28, 2005. (R. 000001-000008.)

Mr. Lyon's case was tried to a jury on August 3-5 and 7, 2009. The jury was instructed at the outset of the trial regarding the nature of the negligence at issue. The Introductory Jury Instruction stated, in relevant part:

The Plaintiff claims that on November 15, 2005, Dr. Bryan performed surgery on his left shoulder (rotator cuff) at the McKay-Dee Hospital and that on November 28, 2005, Dr. Bryan negligently failed to diagnose and treat blood clots in his arm causing injury and damage. The Defendant Dr. Bryan has denied that he was negligent in the medical care rendered to Mr. Lyon and that his care was the cause of his alleged injury and damage.

(R. 000184.)

Evidence was presented at trial regarding Dr. Bryan's negligence in failing to diagnose Mr. Lyon with and treat him for DVT on November 28, 2005. Evidence also was presented that one of the DVTs, or a portion thereof, was "thrown" and traveled through Mr. Lyon's veins to and through his heart, where it was pumped into the pulmonary artery and from there traveled into his lungs, resulting in the pulmonary embolism. (R. 000625 at p. 40-41.)

Mr. Lyon's medical expert, Dr. Serfustini, testified that, in his opinion, Dr. Bryan breached the medical standard of care by failing to take action to determine the cause of the swelling in Mr. Lyon's left arm during the November 28, 2005 postoperative visit. (R. 000625 at pp. 15-16, 23-28, 34, 37, 41-42.) Dr. Serfustini reiterated this opinion under cross-examination by Dr. Bryan's counsel. (*Id.* at p. 55.) The trial court recognized that Dr. Serfustini clearly expressed this opinion. (*Id.* at p. 79-80.)

Dr. Serfustini also was asked whether he had an opinion as to whether or not the pulmonary embolism suffered by Mr. Lyon was more likely than not caused by Dr. Bryan's failure to diagnose Mr. Lyon with and treat him for blood clots in his left arm on November 28, 2005. **In response, Dr. Serfustini testified that, in his opinion, it was more likely**

**than not that the pulmonary embolism had resulted from that failure.** (R. 000625 at pp. 38-39.)

Specifically, Dr. Serfustini testified, “Counsel, that’s really, not only is that the answer is a medical one, the answer is a common sense one. If you define the problem that is a blood clot, you take timely action then you stand an excellent chance of preventing this blood clot from breaking loose and going to the lungs.” Mr. Lyon’s counsel then asked Dr. Serustini, “. . . would you, taking into account all your years of experience and training. think that Mr. Lyon’s lung, blood clot to his lungs, pulmonary embolism, was more likely than not a result of him not being treated on November 28?” Dr. Serfustini answered, “Correct.” (R. 000625 at pp. 38-39) (attached hereto at **Addendum Tab B.**) Dr. Serfustini reiterated this opinion during cross-examination by Dr. Bryan’s counsel. (*Id.* at p. 60-61) (attached at **Addendum Tab B.**) Indeed, Dr. Bryan’s counsel asked whether that was the particular causation aspect on which Dr. Serfustini was concentrating in this case. Dr. Serfustini answered, “Yes.” (*Id.*) Dr. Serfustini again repeated his opinion during re-direct examination. (*Id.* at p. 89) (attached at **Addendum Tab B.**)

Dr. Bryan did not present any evidence contradicting, rebutting or offering any alternative to Dr. Serfustini’s opinion as to the cause of the pulmonary embolism. (*See* R. 000623-000626.) Dr. Bryan contested whether he had been negligent, but did not contest that a failure to diagnose blood clots would be the proximate cause of a resulting pulmonary embolism.

At the close of evidence, the jury was instructed as follows regarding the evidence on which it was to base its verdict:

[t]his case must be decided only upon the evidence which you have heard from the witnesses, and have seen in the form of documents, photographs or other tangible things admitted into evidence.

Anything you may have seen or heard from any other source may not be considered by you in arriving at your verdict.

You should not consider as evidence any statement of the lawyers made at trial.

(R. 000350.)

The trial court instructed the jury regarding expert opinions as follows:

The rules of evidence ordinarily do not permit the opinions of a witness to be received as evidence. An exception to this rule exists in the case of expert witnesses. Witnesses who, by education, study and experience, have become expert in some art, science, profession or calling, may state opinions as to any such matter in which that witness is qualified as an expert, so long as it is material and relevant to the case. You should consider such expert opinion and the reasons, if any, given for it. You are not bound by such an opinion. Give it the weight you think it deserves. If you should decide that the opinions of an expert witness are not based upon sufficient education and experience, or if you should conclude that the reasons given in support of the opinions are not sound, or that such opinions are outweighed by other evidence, you may disregard the opinion entirely.

(R. 000355.)

The trial court instructed the jury regarding proximate causation as follows: “[a] proximate cause of an injury is that cause which, in natural and continuous sequence, produces the injury and without which the injury would not have occurred. A proximate cause is one which sets in operation the factors that accomplish the injury.” (R. 000365.)

### **III. The Verdict**

The trial court sent the jury out to deliberate on August 7, 2009. The jury returned its verdict later that day. (*See* R. 000334-000335.)

The jury answered “YES” to the question “Considering all the evidence in this case, was the Defendant, Donald Bryan, M.D., negligent?” (R. 000334.) The jury answered “NO” to the question “If your answer to Question 1 is ‘yes,’ was such negligence the proximate cause of any injury or damages to Plaintiff?” (R. 000335) (the verdict is attached hereto at **Addendum Tab A.**)

### **IV. Mr. Lyon’s Rule 59 Motion for New Trial**

On September 2, 2009, Mr. Lyon filed his Rule 59 Motion for New Trial. The grounds for the motion were that, given Dr. Serfustini’s testimony on the issue of the proximate causation of the pulmonary embolism undisputedly suffered by Mr. Lyon on December 1, 2005 and the lack of any evidence controverting, rebutting or providing any alternative to that opinion, the jury’s verdict was unsupported by the evidence. (R. 000383-000406.)

Dr. Bryan opposed the motion for new trial in a memorandum filed with the trial court on or about September 11, 2009. Dr. Bryan made four separate arguments in that memorandum:

- a. the jury was not required to believe Dr. Serfustini;
- b. the basis for the jury’s finding of negligence against Dr. Bryan was unclear;

c. Mr. Lyon had failed to prove causation;

d. Mr. Lyon was barred from seeking a new trial because he did not move for directed verdict at the close of evidence.

(R. 000414-000479.)

Mr. Lyon filed a reply memorandum in support of his motion for a new trial on September 24, 2009, in which he rebutted each of the arguments advanced by Dr. Bryan's opposition memorandum. (R. 000516-000529.)

After hearing the motion for a new trial on November 12, 2009 (R. 000627), the trial court entered its Ruling Denying Plaintiff's Motion for a New Trial on November 30, 2009. In that Ruling, the trial court admitted that "[Mr. Lyon] makes a strong and persuasive argument" and expressly conceded that Dr. Serfustini had offered uncontroverted testimony regarding causation in favor of Mr. Lyon, but ultimately denied the motion for the following four reasons:

a. "... the evidence Plaintiff presented on causation was very brief" and "[c]onsidering the minimal evidence presented on causation, the jury may have concluded that Plaintiff had failed to carry his burden of proof on this point."

b. "... the evidence on causation was not presented in an emphatic, or even a very clear, manner" and "[i]t is entirely possible, and reasonable, that the jury may have simply found Dr. Serfustini's testimony on causation not credible or at least unpersuasive."

c. "... the jury was not bound by Dr. Serfustini's testimony, and it would not

have been unreasonable for the jury to disregard Dr. Serfustini's opinion as to causation."

d. It was "plausible" "that, as a result of the emphasis placed on Defendant's inaccurate notes, the jury may have found Defendant negligent in his note-taking, and not for his failure to diagnose the blood clots in Plaintiff's arm."

(R. 000537-000542) (the ruling is attached hereto at **Addendum Tab C.**)

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The judgment in favor of Dr. Bryan should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial for two separate reasons. First, the jury's determination that Dr. Bryan's negligence did not proximately cause injury to Mr. Lyon is not supported by any record evidence. The only evidence regarding causation was Dr. Serfustini's testimony that it was more likely than not Dr. Bryan's negligence in failing to examine, diagnose or treat Mr. Lyon for DVT on November 28, 2005 caused Mr. Lyon to experience a painful and life threatening pulmonary embolism on December 1, 2005. Dr. Bryan did not controvert this evidence nor did he present any alternative theory as to the causation of the pulmonary embolism. Dr. Bryan's entire defense at trial turned on his purported **lack of negligence**; he did not contend that his alleged negligence, if proven, did not result in the embolism. That defense failed. The jury found Dr. Bryan negligent. In light of that finding, which is not challenged by either party, and given that the only evidence on the issue of causation was Dr. Serfustini's uncontroverted testimony, the jury verdict is not only unsupported by the evidence but is contrary to it, and cannot stand.

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