2010

# John A. Lyon v. Donald W. Bryan, M.D. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

As for "speculation," as previously explained, the trial court had an advantage, unavailable to this Court, of actually observing the testimony and evidence as it was presented, as well as the parties' arguments. Without post-verdict interrogation of all jurors, which would violate the sanctity of their deliberations, some degree of "speculation" is inherent in a trial court's decision on a motion for new trial. The trial court's "speculation," in this case, was based upon its assessment that appellant Lyon's "causation" evidence was not so compelling as to justify overturning the jury's verdict. The "reasonableness" standard of review contemplates, rather clearly, that such

---

<sup>6</sup>As will be explained in Point II-B, appellant Lyon could have obtained a "before the fact" ruling, on the "causation" element of his claim, had he moved for a directed verdict.

assessment is within the trial court's prerogative – indeed, is *expected* – when deciding a motion for a new trial.

In this case, the record on appeal contains nothing to suggest that the trial court's denial of the new trial motion, based upon its advantaged perspective, based upon the burden of proof, and based upon proper deference toward the jury's verdict, was an abuse of discretion. The trial court's decision was reasonable. For this reason, alone, this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of appellant Lyon's motion for a new trial.

**C. Mis-direction by Appellant Caused Off-Target “Negligence” Verdict.**

As an additional *or* alternative ground to affirm, this Court should uphold the trial court's judgment that appellant Lyon's focus upon Dr. Bryan's inaccurate “informed consent” notes may have caused the jury to find him negligent in his note-making, but not in failing to diagnose the DVT. (R. 540, in Br. of Appellant Addendum C.) The trial court then “hedged” on this question, stating that it found “nothing that suggests that the jury abandoned the principal issue of the case, namely, Defendant's failure to diagnose the blood clots in Plaintiff's arm.” (R. 541.) Despite the trial court's apparent ambivalence, this Court should affirm.

*Conflicting Evidence on Negligence*

This argument requires a look at the hotly contested evidence as to whether, during the November 28, 2005 follow-up examination, appellant Lyon was showing such clear signs and symptoms of DVT that failure to diagnose it was negligent. As set forth in the fact recitation of this brief, on this question appellant Lyon and Dr. Bryan gave opposing

testimony. The jury could have found either party more credible.

The testimony of other witnesses provided no clear basis to resolve that credibility question. Lyon's wife testified similarly to her husband, but admitted that her trial testimony contained significant detail, about the degree of pain and swelling reported by Lyon on November 28, that had been absent from her pretrial deposition testimony. (R. 624 p. 211-219). Dr. Bryan's certified nursing assistant testified that she recalled no report of unusual pain or swelling, by Lyon, on November 28. (R. 625 pp 193, 201-207.)

Physician witnesses also disagreed on this question. Lyon's orthopedist expert, Dr. Serfustini, interpreting a December 2 clinical description of "brawny edema," opined that unusual pain and swelling, indicative of DVT, must have been present on November 28. (R. 625 p. 28-30.) Dr. Bryan disagreed, testifying that the "brawny edema" description was misleading or inaccurate, and that a DVT clot "can develop and go to the lung in a matter of hours." (R. 625 p. 143-146.) There was testimony that on December 2, when the embolism was diagnosed, Lyon reported that he had been experiencing unusual pain and swelling to his arm for only three days prior – i.e., possibly not beginning until *after* the November 28 examination. (R. 624 pp. 53-55, 61-62).

Dr. Bryan's orthopedist expert, Dr. Vanderhooft, opined that because the swelling that was observed on December 2 did not appear to extend into Lyon's hand, any increased swelling at that time was recent, and not necessarily suggestive of DVT. (R. 626 pp. 48-50, 76-77, 81-82.) Vanderhooft also opined that because of the extreme rarity of upper extremity DVT, and because no signs of DVT were noted in Dr. Bryan's care

records, it would not violate care standards to overlook it. (R. 626 p. 63.) While Lyon's expert, Serfustini, disagreed as to whether rarity would excuse a failure to diagnose, he did acknowledge that DVT is extremely rare in an arm, and that DVT can be difficult to diagnose. (R. 625 pp. 54-58, 90-94.)<sup>7</sup> There was, in short, substantial evidence upon which the jury could have found for *either* party on whether the DVT had been negligently overlooked, by Dr. Bryan, on November 28.

#### *Non-Specific Instructions on Negligence*

Appellant Lyon asserts that the jury found in his favor on this dispute. (Br. of Appellant pp. 21, 34.) That assertion is unsupported, because of the above-described conflicting evidence, *and* because the Special Verdict Form *failed to specify* that the negligence in question was failure to diagnose the DVT. It merely asked a non-specific question: "was the defendant, Donald Bryan, M.D., negligent?" (R. 334-335, in Br. of Appellant Addendum A.) The trial court noted the non-specificity of that question, in its ruling denying Lyon's new trial motion. (R. 541, in Br. of Appellant Addendum C.)

True, the jury was told that the alleged negligence was failure to diagnose the DVT. However, that information was conveyed only once, in the trial court's un-numbered *introduction* to the case, given *before* presentation of evidence. (All jury instructions, including the un-numbered introduction, R. 336, are copied in Appendix 3 of

---

<sup>7</sup>The defense expert, Vanderhooft, also opined that "lumps" on the arm, reportedly described by Lyon, would *not* likely be signs of DVT. (R. 626 pp. 43, 83.)

this brief.)<sup>8</sup> In subsequent instructions, the jury received a “generic” definition of “negligence,” without specification as to the nature of the negligence that Lyon actually alleged. (Instructions 20, 21, R. 360-361, in Appendix 3.) Appellant Lyon agreed to those non-specific instructions. (R. 626 p. 86-87.) The trial jury was thereby invited to find whether Dr. Bryan had committed *any type* of negligence, without reference to the “missed diagnosis” allegation.

That non-specificity creates a problem for Lyon, because the jury’s divided verdict on *unspecified* negligence was *not inconsistent* with its unanimous “no causation” finding. In *Schmidt v. Intermountain Health Care*, 635 P.2d 99 (Utah 1981), a jury found that a urinary catheterization had been negligently performed, but then found that such negligence did not cause the harm (urinary difficulty) that was alleged by the plaintiff. The plaintiff moved for a new trial, arguing that the evidence did not support the “no causation” verdict. The trial court denied the motion, and the supreme court affirmed, in light of defense testimony supporting the “no causation” verdict. 635 P.2d at 101. However, the supreme court *also* observed as follows regarding the *negligence* finding: “Here, not only could the jury have found that the urinary difficulties were not caused by the catheterization, but *it is not clear that the catheterization, rather than some other act or omission, formed the basis for the finding of negligence.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

---

<sup>8</sup>The post-evidence instructions appear to begin with numbered instruction 7 (R. 347, in Appendix 3).

Lyon's problem, in this case, is that it is similarly unclear whether the jury found that Dr. Byran negligently failed to diagnose the DVT on November 28, *or* found that he was negligent in his creation of inaccurate "informed consent" notes. On the former question, as just explained, the evidence supported a verdict either way. The jury was not sufficiently instructed to confine its "negligence" deliberations to the former question.

*Misplaced Emphasis on "Phony" Clinical Notes*

Appellant Lyon compounded that problem, by stressing Dr. Bryan's creation of the "phony" clinical notes. (R. 626 pp. 94-95, 138-139.) Dr. Bryan acknowledged that those "informed consent" notes were inaccurate. (R. 626 p. 136-137.) Appellant Lyon's counsel enlarged those "phony notes" to poster-sized exhibits, and he displayed and emphasized them during closing argument. (R. 540, in Br. of Appellant Addendum C.) Such emphasis misdirected the jury, by inviting it to consider the "phony notes," by themselves, to constitute negligence.

Trying to undo his own misdirected closing argument, appellant Lyon now argues, in effect, that the trial jury should have ignored it. (Br. of Appellant p. 35, emphasizing instruction that "statements of the lawyers were not evidence.") Such argument ignores reality. Closing argument is intended to persuade. Because of this, a significant body of case law has developed about improper closing arguments. A chief concern is that misleading or improper closing argument can, and at times does, induce juries to disregard or overlook the law, as embodied in their instructions. *See, e.g., State v. Bakalov*, 1999 UT 45 ¶ 55-61, 979 P.2d 799, 818-819 (reviewing multiple allegations of

improper argument for impropriety and likelihood of prejudice). “When the evidence in the record is circumstantial or sufficiently conflicting, jurors are more likely influenced by improper argument.” *State v. Todd*, 2007 UT App 349 ¶ 35, 173 P.3d 170, 178-179. In this case, with conflicting evidence on negligence, Lyon’s *own* argument likely influenced the jury’s divided finding that negligence had been committed.

Lyon also tries to rehabilitate, or re-focus, his emphasis upon Dr. Lyon’s “phony notes.” The thrust of such emphasis, he asserts, was “that Dr. Bryan’s notes demonstrated the doctor’s lack of credibility.” (Br. of Appellant p. 35.) That assertion is not supported by the record. The argument portions *cited by Lyon* were as follows:

We have now heard from Dr. Bryan that [the “informed consent” notes are] identical because they’re phony. He just tells his assistant to push a key on every patient’s file and put this identical record in every patient’s file. Yet they want us to rely upon the notes of Dr. Bryan because they don’t say anything about a swollen arm on 11/28.

(R. 626 p. 94-95, in Appendix 2 of this brief.)

. . . John Lyon some six months later, May of 2006 went in to get a copy of all of Dr. Bryan’s notes. This is six months later and walks in and the assistant there . . . says, Oh, you’re in luck, we just finished getting those into the computer. This is months from the time that Mr. Lyon had seen Dr. Bryan and it is, I think it’s months even from the time he very last saw Dr. Bryan. You heard Dr. Bryan say I don’t take hand notes. I just go and dictate them. If he’s preparing these notes after, he’s preparing them in May or even April, this is after he knows that John Lyon has been in the hospital with a pulmonary embolism.

(R. 626 p. 104-105, in Appendix 2.) Neither the above-quoted portions, nor any other portion of Lyon’s closing argument (fully copied in Appendix 2), clearly conveys the idea that the inaccuracy of Dr. Bryan’s “informed consent” notes impeaches the credibility of

his other clinical notes -- or of his trial testimony. Such argument simply was not articulated, to the trial jury, in any understandable fashion.

*Reasonable Trial Court Assessment, and Invited Error*

Given the conflicting evidence on negligence, the insufficiently specific instructions and verdict form on negligence, and Lyon's emphasis upon Dr. Bryan's "phony" clinical notes, it is not at all surprising that the jury made a divided, 6-2 finding on negligence. The majority jurors, insufficiently instructed, could have found the "phony" notes to be negligent, while the minority jurors could have found the "phony" notes to be irrelevant. All jurors could have agreed that the DVT was *not* negligently overlooked, and all jurors could have agreed that the "phony notes" did not cause the pulmonary embolism. This would explain, as the trial court observed, the unanimous "no causation" decision. (R. 540-541, in Br. of Appellant Addendum C.)<sup>9</sup>

Given the foregoing problems, the trial court reasonably held that "as a result of the emphasis placed on [Dr. Bryan]'s inaccurate notes, the jury may have found [Dr. Bryan] negligent in his note-taking, and not for his failure to diagnose the blood clots in [Lyon]'s arm." (R. 540, in Br. of Appellant Addendum C.) Significantly, those problems

---

<sup>9</sup>Besides inducing likely confusion as to the nature of the negligence in issue, appellant Lyon's focus upon the "informed consent" notes probably obscured the question of causation. The trial transcript contains 45 pages of closing argument by Lyon's counsel (R. 626 pp. 87-111, 138-147, in Appendix 2.) Of those 45 pages, only about 21 *lines* address causation, in relatively offhand fashion. (R. 626 p. 91 lines 6-11, p. 106 lines 5-8, 14-16, p. 109 lines 12-16, in Appendix 2.) Some 30 lines of argument, *plus* the poster-sized enlargements, were devoted to the "phony" notes on "informed consent." (R. 626 p. 94 lines 7-25, p. 95 lines 1-8, p. 138 line 25 to 139 lines 1-2, in Appendix 2.)

were created by appellant Lyon, who approved the nonspecific jury instructions and verdict form on negligence (R. 626 p. 86-87), and who fervently assailed the “phony notes.” In effect, Lyon thereby invited the jury to commit the error that he now alleges. “[A] party cannot take advantage of an error committed at trial when that party led the trial court into committing the error.” *State v. Geukgeuzian*, 2004 UT 16 ¶ 9, 86 P.3d 742, 744. The reasonableness of the trial court’s decision is further supported by this “invited error” principle.

\* \* \*

In sum, under the deferential, “reasonableness” standard for review of new trial motions, this Court should affirm the trial court’s judgment. Affirmance may be based upon the trial court’s assessment that Lyon’s “causation” evidence was legitimately found non-persuasive, *or* upon the trial court’s assessment of Lyon’s “phony notes” emphasis, *or* upon both of these grounds. Both were properly within the trial court’s purview, during its careful consideration of Lyon’s new trial motion.

## **POINT II**

### **BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT HAS ADJUDICATED APPELLANT’S CLAIM OF EVIDENTIARY INSUFFICIENCY VIA THE MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, THIS COURT SHOULD NOT INDEPENDENTLY REVIEW THAT CLAIM**

In his first point on appeal, appellant Lyon implicitly asks this Court to review his argument of “evidentiary insufficiency” independently – as if he had never requested, and

---

the trial court had never denied, a new trial. As follows, this Court should review only the denial of Lyon’s new trial motion, and affirm, for the reasons stated in Point I of this brief. But if it does review the evidence independently, this Court should affirm.

#### **A. Deference and Respect for Trial Court.**

Appellate review of a jury verdict, when *no* motion for new trial has been interposed, is deferential. The evidence is reviewed “in the light most favorable to that verdict.” *E.g., Water & Energy Systems Technology, Inc. v. Keil*, 2002 UT 32 ¶ 2, 48 P.3d 888, 890 (quoting authority). For the reasons explained in Point I-A, when a new trial motion *has* been made, and has been decided by the trial court, appellate courts grant *extra* deference. In fact, there appears to be no Utah case wherein the appellate court, reviewing the sufficiency of evidence, did so *both* independently *and* in the context of a new trial ruling. In this case, that is what Lyon asks this Court to do. He wants to avoid the extra deference that is owed to the trial court’s denial of his new trial motion.

It would be improper to independently review the sufficiency of the evidence, as though no motion for a new trial had ever been interposed. Besides bypassing the trial court’s discretion, such review would be disrespectful of the trial court’s conscientious effort, in this case, to carefully consider all of the evidence, as well as the parties’ arguments, related to the new trial motion. *Cf. Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exchange* 860 P.2d 937, 940 (Utah 1993) (*Crookston II*) (approving the trial court’s “very detailed” decision on new trial motion). The trial court did not rubber-stamp the jury’s decision; rather, it carefully and thoughtfully considered the parties’ arguments on the new trial motion.

Therefore, this Court should deny Lyon's request for independent review of the evidence; it should only review the trial court's decision on the new trial motion.

### **B. Procedural Bar.**

Additionally, this Court should deny independent review of appellant Lyon's "evidentiary insufficiency" claim, because he has not preserved an entitlement to such review. Lyon argues that there was "no substantial competent evidence" upon which a "reasonable, fair jury" could answer "no" to the question of causation. (Br. of Appellant p. 18.) He failed to present such argument, to the trial court, *before* the case was submitted to the jury.

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